## IN THE SUPRME COURT OF FLORIDA

## COLUMBUS RICKEY ASHLEY,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. SC00-2586
DCA CASE NO. 1D99-2736

## STATE OF FLORIDA,

V.

Respondent.

## PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO.

#

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

## COLUMBUS RICKEY ASHLEY,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. SC00-2586
DCA CASE NO. 1D99-2736

## STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.	

#### PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

#### I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a conviction and habitual violent felony offender sentence for possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. Petitioner, COLUMBUS ASHLEY, was the defendant in the trial court and appellant in the First District Court of Appeal. Respondent, the State of Florida, was the prosecuting authority and appellee in the courts below. The parties will be referred to as Ashley and the State, respectively.

The record on appeal consists of one volume of pleadings, three volumes of transcript of the proceedings in the circuit court and a one volume supplemental record with Petitioner's Motion to Correct Sentencing Error. The four volumes of the primary record will be referred to as "R" followed by the appropriate volume and page number in parenthesis. The supplemental record will be referred to as "SRI" followed by the page number. A copy of the

District Court's opinion in <u>Ashley v. State</u>, 772 So.2d 42 (Fla.  $1^{\rm st}$  DCA 2000), is attached as an appendix to this brief. The appendix will be referred to as "A."

## II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

By information filed March 26, 1999, Columbus Ashley was charged with armed robbery of a pouch and/or car keys from Glenn Williams (Count I) and aggravated assault of Glenn Williams with a handgun (Count II). The offenses allegedly occurred between 9:00 and 11:55 p.m. on January 17, 1999, in the vicinity of 11th Street East, Jacksonville, Florida (RI, 8-9, 13). An amended information filed June 3, 1999, added a third count of possession of a firearm by a convicted felony (RI, 23-24). Count III was severed for purposes of trial, and Ashley was tried solely on that count.<sup>1</sup>

Ashley was tried by jury on June 15-16, 1999.

Glenn Williams gave his friend, Kenneth Watts, Watts' brother, and a third man a ride on the night of January 17, 1999 (RIII, 199, 201-203). When Williams stopped at the corner of a dirt road, the third man hit Williams with a gun and told him "to give it up" (RIII, 209-212). Williams grabbed the gun and the two men struggled over it (RIII, 212-214). The struggle continued in to the street (RIII, 215). When Williams lost his grip on the gun, he got back in his car, and the assailant fired three times, striking Williams' Honda Civic (RIII, 203, 216, 228, 321). Watts' brother grabbed the keys from the ignition, and Watts' took Williams' pouch, and the three men fled (RIII, 216-217). Williams positively

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$ After the trial, the state nol prossed Counts I and II of the amended information (RI, 99, 107).

identified Columbus Ashley in a photo lineup and at trial as the third man who assaulted him with the gun that night (RIII, 218, 222-225, 333-335).

Ashley was interviewed following his arrest on March 5, 1999, and denied any involvement in the robbery and aggravated assault. He said he wasn't there, but Kenneth Watts told him about it (RIV, 360, 364-365).

Following the testimony, the trial court instructed the jury, per stipulation of the parties, that Mr. Ashley was convicted of a felony on January 16, 1998; that the state did not need to introduce further proof of the nature of the prior felony conviction, and that the state still had the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that appellant knowingly owned or had in his care, custody or possession a firearm (RIV, 378-379).

Ashley presented three alibi witnesses at trial: his mother, Sharon Brown (RIV, 380-387); his girlfriend, Alfornia Nelson (RIV, 399-401), and his stepbrother, Joseph Brown (RIV, 416-417). The jury rejected his alibi defense and found him guilty of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon as charged in Count III of the information (RI, 33; RIV, 540-541).

Prior to trial, the state filed a notice of intent to classify Ashley as an habitual violent felony offender based on Ashley's conviction for robbery on January 16, 1998 (RI, 17). At the first phase of the sentencing hearing on July 8, 1999, the state

introduced the January 16, 1998, judgment of conviction for armed robbery in Duval County Case No. 96-11439-CFA (RI, 34-35, 68-69). In response to the court's inquiry, the state proffered that the conviction was valid and had not been set aside on appeal (RI, 69).

Defense counsel noted that Ashley was 20 years old, had two prior juvenile adjudications and two prior felony convictions, "one of which is the robbery, which they're habitualizing him with, the other is possession of cocaine . . ." (RI, 78). Counsel argued that the court had broad discretion in terms of the sentencing range, from the minimum mandatory ten year term to a maximum of 30 years (RI, 78-79). "I understand that even HVO status is discretionary with the court. The court does not have to impose the HVO sentence" (RI, 78). Counsel urged the court to impose a sentence at the lower end of the range (RI, 80).

The state had "no specific recommendation for this court, but I do ask the court to take into consideration all of the circumstances in sentencing this particular defendant; that includes what he did in this case, the crime he was convicted of, and his prior record of crimes" (RI, 84).

Ashley was sentenced on July 9, 1999. The court found that this case was "certainly aggravating more than the normal case of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon" by virtue of the facts that there was a struggle over the firearm and the gun was discharged (RI, 95). The court also noted that Ashley's prior

record for aggravated assault as a juvenile, auto theft, armed robbery and possession of crack cocaine is "extremely aggravating" (RI, 96). The court nonetheless recognized Ashley's remorse as a mitigating factor and also noted that his record, "even though it's very serious, is not as lengthy as some records that I've reviewed" (RI, 97).

The trial court then adjudicated Ashley guilty and orally sentenced him as an habitual felony offender to 25 years in prison with credit for 127 days (RI, 39-44, 97). However, the habitual violent felony offender designation was checked on the written judgment and sentence (RI, 43). There was no minimum term noted on the written sentencing form. A handwritten notation on the judgment and sentence form indicated that the "sentence of 7-9-99 set aside & vacated. See new sentence of 7/12/99" (RI, 39).

On July 12, 1999, Ashley appeared before the court for resentencing. The trial judge advised Ashley that

We brought you back today because I made a mistake in the sentencing in that I sentenced you just as an habitual felony offender and there was no such notice filed. However, there was an habitual violent felony offender notice filed. Therefore, let's go back and I'll set aside that earlier sentence and resentence the defendant at this time.

(RI, 105). Defense counsel did not object to the resentencing (RI, 105). The court then sentenced Ashley to 25 years as an habitual violent felony offender and for the first time imposed a ten year minimum mandatory term (RI, 49-54, 105). The court entered a

separate written order providing its findings in support of the habitual violent felony offender designation (RI, 55-56).

Notice of appeal was timely filed on July 15, 1999 (RI, 58). After the notice was filed but before filing the initial brief, Ashley filed a motion to correct sentencing error, pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.800(b)(2), alleging that the resentencing on July 12, 1999, constituted a double jeopardy violation (SRI, 1-5). The trial court did not rule on the motion, and it was therefore deemed denied.

Ashley raised the double jeopardy claim on direct appeal. The District Court rejected the claim, finding that the trial court's initial imposition of a habitual felony offender sentence "was the result of a simple mistake about what had been noticed and then proven the day before. It was not a discretionary judgment based on the facts to impose a lighter sentence." (A, 1-2).

On December 14, 2000, Ashley filed a notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction. The Court accepted jurisdiction by order dated May 10, 2001. This brief follows.

## III SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Ashley received a lawful sentence as an habitual felony offender. However, three days after he was sentenced, Ashley was resentenced as an habitual violent felony offender, and the trial court imposed a ten year minimum mandatory term.

Case law is clear that once a lawful sentence is imposed, the trial court cannot thereafter increase the sentence, on either the state's or the court's own motion. Ashley began serving his habitual offender sentence on July 9, 1999, and the trial court's imposition of a habitual violent felony offender sentence with a ten year mandatory term on July 12, 1999, violated the constitutional prohibition against multiple punishments for the same offense. This Court must, therefore, vacate the habitual violent felony offender sentence and ten year mandatory term and remand to the trial court with directions to reinstate the original sentence.

#### IV ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RESENTENCING PETITIONER AS AN HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDER THREE DAYS AFTER IT HAD IMPOSED A LAWFUL HABITUAL OFFENDER SENTENCE.

The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that "No person shall . . . be subject for the same offence to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb." Similarly, Article I Section 9 of the Florida Constitution provides that "No person shall be . . . twice put in jeopardy for the same offense." The double jeopardy prohibition of multiple prosecutions for the same offense limits a court's ability to alter or increase sentences once a lawful sentence has been imposed. See Ex parte Lange, 18 U.S. (Wall) 163, 21 L.Ed. 872 (1874) (defendant cannot be subjected to another sentence after suffering fully one punishment for the same offense). This principle was applied in the seminal case of Troupe v. Rowe, 283 So.2d 857 (Fla. 1973), wherein this Court held that once a final, conclusive judgment and sentence is pronounced, jeopardy attaches, and the sentence imposed may not thereafter be increased.

The imposition of a new habitual violent felony sentence and ten year mandatory term on July 12, 1999, three days after Mr. Ashley was first sentenced, violated the constitutional prohibition against double jeopardy and is squarely at odds with the principles of <u>Troupe v. Rowe</u> and its progeny. The issue here involves a

question of law and is subject to de novo review.

As noted in the District Court's opinion, it was undisputed that the State was seeking an habitual violent felony offender sentence and that all of the sentencing proceedings dealt with the issue of Mr. Ashley's qualification as an habitual violent felony offender (A 1). The State filed a pretrial notice of intent to classify Ashley as a habitual violent felony offender. The notice, filed pursuant to Section 775.084(3)(a), Fla. Stat., alleged one prior conviction for a violent felony (robbery) on January 16, 1998, and stated that the State would seek a sentence of life imprisonment without eligibility for release for fifteen (15) years.<sup>2</sup> At the hearing on July 8, 1999, the state proved the requisite prior violent felony conviction, and Ashley admittedly qualified for sentencing as a habitual violent felony offender. However, the record indicates that Ashley also had a prior adult conviction for possession of cocaine and qualified as a habitual felony offender (RI, 23, 46).

On July 9, 1999, the trial court sentenced Ashley to 25 years in prison as an habitual felony offender, without a minimum

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The notice was filed on April 1, 1999, two months before the state filed its amended information charging Ashley with possession of a firearm by a convicted felon (RI, 17, 23-24). Possession of a firearm by a convicted felon is a second degree felony, which carries a maximum penalty of 15 years in prison and an enhanced penalty as a habitual violent felony offender of 30 years in prison with a ten year mandatory minimum term. Sections 775.082(3)(c), 775.084(4)(b)2., 790.23(3), Fla. Stat.

mandatory term. Although the oral pronouncement designated Ashley as an habitual offender, the written judgment and sentence noted that he was sentenced as an habitual *violent* felony offender.

On July 12, 1999, the court set aside and vacated the July 9, 1999, written judgment and sentence and resentenced Ashley to 25 years in prison as an habitual violent felony offender with a minimum mandatory term of 10 years. The court stated at the time of resentencing:

We brought you back today because I made a mistake in the sentencing in that I sentenced you just as an habitual felony offender and there was no such notice filed. However, there was an habitual violent felony offender notice filed. Therefore, let's go back and I'll set aside that earlier sentence and resentence the defendant at this time.

(RI, 105).

In <u>Troupe v. Rowe</u>, this Court affirmed that once a lawful sentence is imposed, jeopardy attaches, and the defendant cannot thereafter be resentenced to a greater term of imprisonment. <u>See also, Harris v. State</u>, 734 So.2d 1154 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999); <u>Navarrete v. State</u>, 707 So.2d 803 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998); <u>Berry v. State</u>, 547 So.2d 1273 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989). This rule applies whenever a lawful sentence is imposed even though the court intended to impose a different sentence, <u>Evans v. State</u>, 675 So.2d 1012 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996), or relied upon an erroneously calculated scoresheet. <u>Gonzalez v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 711 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992). The only exception to this rule is where a defendant intentionally deceives the sentencing court or thwarts the sentencing process and thus is

deemed to have no legitimate expectation regarding the finality of the sentence. <u>Goene v. State</u>, 577 So.2d 1306 (Fla. 1991).

In <u>Goene</u>, the Court found that the defendant committed a fraud upon the court by using an alias which affected his guidelines sentences. The Court recognized a limited exception to the double jeopardy prohibition against increasing a lawful sentence after it has been imposed when a fraud is perpetrated upon the court. The Court first noted that the purpose of the double jeopardy prohibition is to avoid subjecting the defendant to repeated embarrassment, expense, anxiety, and insecurity. "In short, the defendant at some point must be entitled to rely on the finality of the court's actions." 577 So.2d at 1307. Quoting <u>United States v. Jones</u>, 722 F.2d 632 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1983), the Court explained:

For the purpose of determining the legitimacy of a defendant's expectations [as to the length of his sentence], we draw a distinction between one who intentionally deceives the sentencing authority or thwarts the sentencing process and one who is forthright in every respect. Whereas the former will have purposely created any error on the sentencer's part and thus can have no legitimate expectation regarding the sentence thereby procured, the latter, being blameless, may legitimately expect that the sentence, once imposed and commenced, will not later be enhanced.

The Court concluded that because Goene intentionally committed a fraud upon the court, he had no legitimate expectation of finality in the sentence originally imposed and there was no impediment to the reimposition of a correct sentence.

There is no suggestion here that Ashley committed a fraud or was in any way responsible for the trial court's failure to declare

him a habitual violent felony offender and impose a ten year mandatory sentence. Ashley did not use an alias or misrepresent his prior record or otherwise mislead the court. The judge inadvertently made a mistake (through no fault of the defense), but the after-the-fact correction of a mistake on the part of the judge nonetheless violates double jeopardy. Evans v. State. The narrow exception recognized in Goene simply does not apply in this context.

Evans v. State is on point. There, the defendant was sentenced following a violation of probation to prison terms of five and fifteen years. The trial court did not orally state that the sentence for the violation of probation was as an habitual offender, although the written sentence explicitly stated that the defendant was sentenced as an habitual offender. Two days later, the state filed a motion to clarify the sentence. At the hearing on the motion to clarify, the court sentenced the defendant as an habitual offender. On appeal, the District Court held that while the trial court's failure to orally state that it was sentencing the defendant as an habitual felony offender may have merely been an oversight, the court's clarification of the sentence two days later violated double jeopardy. The District Court reversed the sentence and remand for resentencing deleting the defendant's habitual offender status.

Here, although the court may have intended to sentence Ashley as an habitual violent felony offender, it did not do so when it initially sentenced him on July 9. The court below affirmed

Ashley's sentence finding that the trial court's initial imposition of an habitual felony offender sentence was "the result of a simple mistake about what had been noticed and then proven the day before" (A 2). Whether the original sentence is deemed a "simple mistake" or a "mere oversight," the same double jeopardy principles apply. Jeopardy attached once Ashley began serving his 25 year habitual offender sentence, and the court could not thereafter resentence him as an habitual violent felony offender with a ten year mandatory term without violating double jeopardy.

It does not matter for purposes of double jeopardy whether the mistake was due to judicial oversight or neglect on the part of the state, which also had a duty to assure that the sentencing was error-free. See, e.g., Speed v. State, 749 So.2d 545 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000)(where court originally sentenced defendant to time served under mistaken belief that offense was a misdemeanor and not a felony, court could not thereafter resentence defendant since sentence had already been served); Young v. State, 734 So.2d 490 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999) (once defendant had begun serving his guidelines sentence, court could not resentence him as a habitual offender at the request of the state which had intended to seek a habitual offender sentence); Nelson v. State, 724 So.2d 1202 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998)(double jeopardy barred resentencing defendant to increased sentence as a result of state's discovery of prior convictions overlooked in initial scoring of guidelines scoresheet). bottom line is that Mr. Ashley, being blameless, had a legitimate expectation that his sentence, once imposed and commenced, would not later be increased.

It likewise does not matter here that the written judgment failed to conform to the oral pronouncement. Although the written judgment entered on July 9, 1999, reflected that Ashley was sentenced as an habitual violent felony offender, the court could not orally amend the sentence at a later date to conform to the written judgment. See Justice v. State, 674 So.2d 123, 125 (Fla. 1996) (when the written order conflicts with the oral pronouncement, the oral pronouncement prevails). This was simply not a clerical error which was subject to correction; rather, the July 12 proceeding resulted in an alteration and increase of Ashley's sentence. Cf., Navarrete v. State, 707 So.2d 803 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998).

In <u>Navarrete</u>, the trial court orally imposed a three year minimum mandatory term, but did not include it in the written order. Two weeks after the original sentence was imposed, the court vacated the sentence because of a scoresheet error and the omission of the minimum mandatory term and imposed a longer term of incarceration. On appeal, the First District reversed the increased sentence because it violated double jeopardy, but affirmed the imposition of the three year minimum mandatory portion of the sentence, finding that its omission from the written sentence was merely a scrivener's error. Here, unlike in <u>Navarrete</u>, the trial judge did not orally impose a habitual violent offender sentence and ten year mandatory term; hence, its subsequent imposition was not a correction of a scrivener's error

but a new, increased sentence.

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