### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

COLUMBUS RICKEY ASHLEY,

Petitioner,

V.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. Sc00-2586

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

TRISHA E. MEGGS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 045489

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

##

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal (DCA) and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent, the prosecution, or the State. Petitioner, Columbus Rickey Ashley, the Appellant in the DCA and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner or by proper name.

The symbol "I", "II", "III", "IV" will refer to the record on appeal. "IB" will designate Ashley's Initial Brief. Each symbol is followed by the appropriate page number.

All emphasis through bold lettering is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State agrees with Petitioner's statement of the case and facts.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court did not violate double jeopardy by resentencing Ashley as a habitual violent felony offender (herein after HVFO) after originally sentence Ashley as a habitual felony offender (hereinafter HFO) because the trial court was correcting a clerical-like error and imposing the sentence originally intended. During the sentencing hearing, the State proved and the trial court found that Ashley qualified as a HVFO. The parties discussed the length of the HVFO sentence Ashley should receive. The State did not file a notice of intent to seek HFO sentencing nor did the State prove that Ashley qualified as an HFO. In fact, the possibility of an HFO sentence was never discussed. Thus, when the trial court mistakenly orally pronounced the HFO sentence instead of an HVFO, Ashley knew or should have known that the sentence was incorrect. Accordingly, Ashley had no expectation of finality in the HFO sentence, and when the judge corrected Ashley's sentence three days later, there was no double jeopardy violation.

Furthermore, the trial court did not increase Ashley's sentence. Even though the habitual violent felony sentence contains a minimum mandatory, Ashley's sentence was not effected because Ashley is required to serve 85 percent of his sentence which exceeds the minimum mandatory portion of the sentence. Because his sentence was not increased, there could be no double jeopardy violation.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

### ISSUE I

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY RESENTENCING ASHLEY AS AN HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDER BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT HAD MISSPOKE AND SENTENCED HIM AS A HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDER THREE DAYS EARLIER? (Restated)

Ashley argues that the trial court erred by resentencing him as a habitual violent felony offender a few days after the imposition of the original sentence when the trial court had misspoke and imposed a habitual felony offender sentence. The State respectfully disagrees.

#### Standard of Review & Preservation

Whether or not the trial court's act of resentencing Ashley violated double jeopardy is an issue of law which is subject to de novo review.

Ashley preserved this issue by filing a Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b) in the trial court.

#### Jurisdiction

The State maintains that upon review of the operative facts, as contained within the "four corners" of the decisions in <u>Ashley v. State</u>, 772 So.2d 42 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2000), <u>Troupe v. Rowe</u>, 283 So. 2d 857 (Fla. 1973), <u>State v. Hudson</u>, 698 So. 2d 831 (Fla. 1997), <u>Evans v. State</u>, 675 So. 2d 1012 (Fla. 4<sup>TH</sup> DCA 1996), and <u>Knapp v. State</u>, 741 So. 2d 1150 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999), there is no express and direct conflict with this Court or any other District Court of Appeal. <u>See</u>

Reaves v. State, 485 So.2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986); <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 385 So.2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980).

### Argument

Ashley contends that his sentence as a habitual violent offender violates double jeopardy. During the sentencing hearing held on July 8, 1999, the prosecutor informed the court that he had filed a notice of intent to seek habitual violent felony offender sanctions, and would use his armed robbery conviction as the prior predicate offense. (I.68). Defense counsel also discussed the use of the prior robbery to habitualize him and the habitual violent offender sentence. (I.78-79). The July 8th hearing was continued to the next day, and the trial court sentenced Ashley to twentyfive years as a habitual felony offender. (I.97). On July 12, 1999, the trial court held a second hearing clarifying Ashley's sentence stating that it had mistakenly sentenced Ashley as a habitual felony offender when a habitual violent felony offender notice had been filed. Defense counsel had no objection to Ashley being sentenced as a habitual violent offender. (I.105).trial court also pointed out the fact that although there was a ten year minimum mandatory, it would not make a difference because Ashley had to serve 85 percent of his sentence. (I.106).

Ashley argues that the trial court could not resentence him because it violated double jeopardy. The Fifth Amendment to the Federal Constitution provides:

nor shall any person be subject for the same offence to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb;

U.S. CONST. AMEND. V., CL. 2. The Florida Constitution provides:

No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law, or be twice put in jeopardy for the same offense, or be compelled in any criminal matter to be a witness against himself.

Art. I, § 9, FLA. CONST. The guarantee against double jeopardy "has been said to consist of three separate constitutional protections. It protects against a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal. It protects against a second prosecution for the same offense after conviction. And it protects against multiple punishments for the same offense." United States v. DiFrancesco, 449 U.S. 117, 101 S.Ct. 426, 433, 66 L.Ed.2d 328 (1980). The Court stated:

The constitutional prohibition against "double jeopardy" was designed to protect an individual from being subjected to the hazards of trial and possible conviction more than once for an alleged offense.... The underlying idea, one that is deeply ingrained in at least the Anglo-American system of jurisprudence, is that the State with all its resources and power should not be allowed to make repeated attempts to convict an for an alleged offense, thereby subjecting him to embarrassment, expense and ordeal and compelling him to live in a continuing state of anxiety and insecurity, as well as enhancing the possibility that even though innocent he may be found guilty.

Id. at 449 U.S. at 127-128, 101 S.Ct at 432, citing Green v. United States, 355 U.S. 184, 78 S.Ct. 221, 2 L.Ed.2d 199 (1957). The primary purpose of the Double Jeopardy Clause was to preserve the finality and integrity of judgments. Id. at 449 U.S. at 128, 101 S.Ct at 432. "Historically, the pronouncement of sentence has never carried the finality that attaches to an acquittal." Id. at 449 U.S. at 133, 101 S.Ct at 435. In fact, the practice of allowing the trial court to increase a sentence as long as it was during the same term of court was once thought not to violate

double jeopardy principles. 449 U.S. at 133-134, 101 S.Ct at 435.

However, the general rule is that the trial court cannot increase a sentence once a defendant begins to serve his sentence. Troupe v. Rowe, 283 So.2d 857, 859 (Fla. 1973). Nevertheless, there are exceptions to this rule. Goene v. State, 577 So.2d 1306, 1308 (Fla. 1991). "The Constitution does not require that sentencing should be a game in which a wrong move by the judge means immunity for the prisoner." Harris v. State, 645 So.2d 386, 388 (Fla. 1994), citing United States v. DiFrancesco 449 U.S. at 135, 101 S.Ct. at 436.

In <u>Harris v. State</u>, the State had requested habitual offender sanctions, but the trial court imposed a guidelines sentence because Harris had "convinced the trial court that the law was such that habitual offender sanctions were not legally permissible for his convictions." <u>Id.</u> at 387. When Harris appealed his conviction and sentence, the State cross appealed the issue of whether the trial court had the authority to impose a habitual offender sentence. The district court affirmed Harris' convictions and held that the "trial court erred in its finding that Harris's convictions were not subject to habitualization." <u>Id.</u> This Court relying on <u>United States v. DiFrancesco</u>, stated that "we find that the Double Jeopardy Clause is not an absolute bar to the imposition of an increased sentence on remand from an authorized appellate review of an issue of law concerning the original sentence. Harris has not been deprived of any reasonable expectation of finality in

his original sentence, nor has he been subject to repeated attempts to convict." Id. at 388.

In <u>Goene v. State</u>, 577 So.2d 1306 (Fla. 1991), the trial court resentenced Goene once the court learned that Goene was using an alias and had several prior convictions which were not on the scoresheet. Goene argued that once a defendant has begun to serve his sentence, the judge may not recall him and resentence him to an increased term. <u>Id.</u> at 1308. This Court held that while that was the "general rule in Florida, it is clear that there are exceptions to the rule." <u>Id.</u> Thus, this Court approved of the trial court decision to resentence Goene because Goene had committed fraud upon the court which effected his sentence.

In <u>Cheshire v. State</u>, 568 So.2d 908, 913 (Fla. 1990), this Court held that double jeopardy did not prevent the trial court from resentencing a defendant when the original scoresheet contained mathematical errors. The court stated: "Double jeopardy does not guarantee a defendant the benefit of a judges good-faith mathematical or clerical errors." <u>Id.</u>

Likewise in the case at bar, Ashley had no expectation in the finality of his HFO sentence, which was the result of a clerical-like error. "It [was] undisputed that the State was seeking an HVFO sentence and that all of the sentencing proceedings dealt with the issue of Appellant's qualification as an HVFO." Ashley v. State, 772 So.2d 42, 42 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000). The State proved and the trial court found that Ashley qualified as a HVFO. Id. After the trial court found Ashley qualified as a HVFO, the parties

discussed the length of the HVFO sentence Ashley should receive. Id. "The possibility of an HFO sentence was never discussed, nor did the State file a notice of intent to seek HFO sentencing or prove that appellant would qualify as an HFO." Id. (Emphasis added). Thus, when the trial court mistakenly orally pronounced the HFO sentence, Ashley knew or should have known that the sentence was incorrect. Accordingly, Ashley had no expectation of finality in the HFO sentence. The trial court merely misspoke omitting the word violent from the July 9th oral pronouncement, and the judge corrected Ashley's sentence on July 12, 1999. Thus, there was no double jeopardy violation.

Ashley's reliance on Troupe v. Rowe, 283 So. 2d 857 (Fla. 1973), is misplaced. In Troupe, the parties had agreed in plea bargain to the length of Troupe's but disagreed over "(1) the defendant's desire for a 'finding' of guilt rather than the stigmatizing adjudication, and (2) the resulting benefit of allowing defendant to remain in the army after his release: whereas the state was insistent upon an adjudication of such serious crimes." Id. at 858. The trial court decided to "go with" the defendant's position, entering a "finding" over the State's objection, and the court sentenced the defendant. Id. Following a recess, a second assistant state attorney had the trial court return to Troupe's case, and he vehemently objected to the finding rather than an adjudication. After a discussion, the trial court set aside the plea. Id.

This Court concluded that in Troupe's case, "the fact reflect that a voluntary plea of guilty was entered and sentence imposed and the hearing concluded." Id. at 859. The second assistant state attorney did not interject himself into the case until after the hearing had concluded and the trial court had emphatically ruled on the adjudication verses finding issue. Thus, this Court found that "Jeopardy had attached in petitioner's case and the sentence which had been imposed could not thereafter be increased (as the second assistant state attorney's position would do) in violation of defendant's constitutional guaranty not to be twice placed in jeopardy." Id. at 860.

Troupe greatly differs from Ashley. In Ashley, the trial court corrected its mistaken imposition of a HFO sentence rather than an HVFO sentence in a situation when it was clear that a HVFO sentence was intended. The First District specifically found that it was not a discretionary ruling of the trial court. An HFO sentence was never on the table in Ashley. Whereas, in Troupe, the trial court reversed an earlier discretionary ruling and in effect set aside Troupe's plea after hearing additional argument from a second prosecutor although the trial court had already sentenced Troupe and the hearing had concluded. Furthermore, the trial court, in Troupe, had option of withholding adjudication or adjudicating Troupe guilty, and when the court decided to withhold adjudication, Troupe had expectation in the finality of that sentence. Ashley never had an expectation in the finality of a sentence which he knew or should have known was the result of a misstatement.

State v. Hudson, 698 So. 2d 831 (Fla. 1997) is also inapposite. Hudson filed a motion to correct an illegal sentence. The trial court had sentenced him to twelve years as a HVFO. However, the trial court did not impose a minimum mandatory, and there was no mention of a minimum mandatory in the written plea agreement, the colloquy, or the sentencing documents. Nevertheless, after Hudson began to serve his sentence, the Department of Corrections set up Hudson's records to show a twelve-year minimum mandatory. Hudson filed a motion to correct illegal sentence arguing that the trial court had improperly amended his sentence. The court denied the motion because the court had never imposed a minimum mandatory and therefore had not changed Hudson's sentence. Id. at 832. The Third District affirmed without prejudice to Hudson to challenge the Department of Corrections should it enforce the mandatory term, and in a footnote the Third District recognized conflict among the district courts as to whether the minimum mandatory terms under the habitual offender statute were discretionary. Id. In light of its previous decisions finding that a court has discretion as to whether or not to sentence a defendant as a habitual offender, this Court found that "the court's sentencing discretion extends to determining whether to impose a mandatory minimum term." Id. 833. <u>See also Knapp v. State</u>, 741 So.2d 1150 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999) (finding that when the court originally sentenced Knapp as a HVFO without imposing a minimum mandatory sentence, the trial court, after receiving a letter from the Department of Corrections explaining that the court was statutorily required to impose the minimum mandatory, could not resentenced Knapp as a HVFO with the minimum mandatory because Knapp's original sentence was legal").

The First District's decision in <u>Ashley</u>, did not question this Court's decision in <u>Hudson</u> or the trial court's discretion to impose a minimum mandatory. Rather, in <u>Ashley</u>, the trial court corrected a clerical-like error by imposing a HVFO sentence with the minimum mandatory even though it had mistakenly imposed a HFO sentence three days earlier. The <u>Ashley</u> court found that the trial court did not "initially impose[] a legal sentence," and that Ashley "had no expectation of finality after the trial court imposed the first sentence." <u>Ashley</u> at 43.

Ashley also differs from Evans v. State, 675 So.2d 1012 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). The trial court originally sentenced Evans as a HFO to current sentences of three years of probation on the condition he complete a drug program. Id. at 1013. Evans violated his probation. At the sentencing hearing, the parties discussed Evans sentencing guidelines scoresheet range. <u>Id.</u> The trial court sentenced him to consecutive five and fifteen-year prison sentences, but the trial court did not state that Evans was being sentenced as a HFO. Id. at 1014. A written sentence did provided that Evans was sentenced as a HFO, although the commitment papers did not reflect a HFO sentence. <u>Id.</u> Two days later the State filed a motion to clarify the sentence. Id. The Fourth District stated that: "Resentencing a defendant to an habitual offender term of imprisonment subsequent to the entry of a jurisdictionally permissible term is unequivocally a violation of double jeopardy

rights which cannot be constitutionally justified." Id. While the court recognized that the trial court's failure to orally pronounce the HFO status may have been an oversight, the Fourth District found that clarification two days later to be in error. Id. at 1015.

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